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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF OHIO 

EASTERN DIVISION 

 
MAJESTIC BUILDING MAINTENANCE, 

INC. 

545 Metro Place South 
Suite 100 
Dublin, Ohio 43017 
 
          Plaintiff, 
 
v.  
 
HUNTINGTON BANCSHARES 

INCORPORATED dba THE 

HUNTINGTON NATIONAL BANK 

c/o CT Corporation System 
1300 East Ninth Street 
Cleveland, OH 44114 
 
          Defendant. 

CASE NUMBER: 
 
DISTRICT JUDGE:  
 
MAGISTRATE JUDGE: 
 
 
DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

 

 
CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT 

 

Plaintiff Majestic Building Maintenance (“Plaintiff” or “Majestic”), individually and on 

behalf of all others similarly situated, institutes this action against Defendant Huntington 

Bancshares Incorporated dba The Huntington National Bank (“Huntington”) upon its personal 

knowledge, the investigation of its counsel, and on information and belief as follows: 

INTRODUCTION  

1. Huntington ties its bank account services to the purchase of its fraud-prevention 

services in contravention of federal law. Huntington does not provide the full protections and 

services required by the Uniform Commercial Code (“UCC”) and state law to bank accounts 

unless that customer agrees to purchase additional Huntington services. These actions and 
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policies are in contravention of the Bank Holding Company Act (“BHCA”)’s Anti-Tying 

provision.1 

2. Plaintiff is one of the many victims of Huntington’s practices and policies of ties 

its fraud-prevention services to its bank account products and services. Here, even after timely 

notifying Huntington of errors regarding forged and fraudulent payment and check activity, 

Huntington refused to reimburse Plaintiff in accordance with its legal obligations under the UCC 

and applicable state law.  Huntington’s only justification for not complying with the mandates of 

the UCC and applicable state law is that Majestic failed to purchase Huntington’s fraud-

prevention services. Requiring Majestic to purchase fraud-prevention services as a condition of 

receiving the benefits and protections of the UCC and applicable state law and violates the 

BHCA.  

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

 

3. The Court has subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to the Class Action Fairness 

Act of 2005 (“CAFA”), 28 U.S.C. §1332(d)(2).  The matter in controversy exceeds the sum or 

value of $5 million exclusive of interest and costs, and is a class action in which at least one 

member of the class of plaintiffs is a citizen of a state different from Huntington.   

4. The Court also has subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1331. The 

matter in controversy arises under the laws of the United States.  

5. The Court has personal jurisdiction over Huntington because it is an Ohio resident 

and has registered as an Ohio corporation with the Ohio Secretary of State.  Huntington held 

Plaintiff’s checking account, and the bank accounts of other Class Members, in this judicial 

district. 

                                                           
1 See UCC §§ 4-103, 4-401. Each state in which Huntington conducts business has adopted the UCC. See Ohio Rev. 
Code § 13.04.01 to 1304.40; Mich. Comp. Laws § 440.4101 to 440.4504; Pa. Cons. Stat § 4101 to 4504; Ind. Code 
§ 26-1-4-101 to 26-1-4-504; W. Va. Code § 46-4-101 to 46-4-504; Ken. Rev. Stat. § 355.4-101 to 355.4-504. 

Case: 2:18-cv-01512-GCS-CMV Doc #: 1 Filed: 11/23/18 Page: 2 of 16  PAGEID #: 2



3 
 

6. Venue is proper in the United States District Court for the Southern District of 

Ohio pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 1391(b) because a substantial part of the events or omissions giving 

rise to the claim occurred in this district and because Huntington is subject to this Court’s 

personal jurisdiction. 

PARTIES 

 

7. Plaintiff Majestic Building Maintenance, Inc. is a company specializing in 

commercial cleaning services for businesses.  Majestic’s corporate headquarters are located in 

Dublin, Ohio, which is within this Court’s jurisdiction. 

8. Majestic is and was a “customer” within the meaning of 12 U.S.C. § 1972 at all 

times relevant to this Complaint. 

9. Defendant Huntington Bancshares Incorporated, whose banking affiliate does 

business as The Huntington National Bank, is a Maryland corporation with its principal place of 

business in Columbus, Ohio.  Huntington’s headquarters are located at Huntington Center, 41 

South High Street, Columbus, Ohio 43287, which is within this Court’s jurisdiction.  Huntington 

also regularly conducts business in this District and throughout Ohio, Michigan, Pennsylvania, 

Indiana, West Virginia and Kentucky.   

10. According to the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”), Huntington 

had $53.8 billion on deposit in Ohio as of June 30, 2018, making it the second largest bank in the 

state. 

11. At all times relevant to this Complaint, Huntington is an was also a “bank” within 

the meaning of 12 U.S.C. § 1841(c)(1). 

12. At all times relevant to this Complaint, Huntington is and was a “bank” within the 

meaning of § 4-105(1) of the UCC. 
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13. At all times relevant to this Complaint, Huntington is and was also a “payor bank” 

within the meaning of § 4-105 of the UCC. 

The Anti-Tying Provision of the BHCA 

14. The purpose of the Anti-Tying provision of the BHCA is to prohibit 

anticompetitive practices which require bank customers to accept or provide some other service 

or product in order to obtain the bank product or services they desire.2 

15. Section 1972(1)(A) of the BHCA reads as follows: A bank shall not in any 

manner extend credit, lease or sell property of any kind, or furnish any service, or fix or vary the 

consideration for any of the foregoing, on the condition or requirement (A) that the customer 

shall obtain some additional credit, property, or service from such bank other than a loan, 

discount, deposit, or trust service. 

16. The BHCA requires only that a plaintiff demonstrate that an anticompetitive 

practice exists.3 

17. The BHCA applies when a bank conditions or requires that a customer obtain an 

additional product or service as a condition of the furnishing of a different product or service. 

18. Therefore, a customer need not to have obtained the additional product or service, 

but only be put in the position of a bank conditioning or requiring the customer obtain a different 

product or service in order to receive the original product or service. 

19. As further stated herein, Huntington’s actions constitute a violation of 12 U.S.C. § 

1972(A)(1), prohibiting financial institutions from imposing anticompetitive conditions on their 

customers in order to receive the benefits and protections of the UCC and Ohio law. 

FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

                                                           
2 See S.Rep.No. 1084, 91st Cong. 2d Sess. (1970), reprinted in 1970 U.S. Code Cong. & Admin. News 5519, 5535. 
3 S.Rep.No. 1084, 91st Cong., 2d Sess. (1970), reprinted in 1970 U.S. Code Cong. & Admin. News 5519, 5547. 
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20. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all other paragraphs of this Complaint as if 

fully stated herein. 

21. In or around November 2010, Plaintiff opened a business checking account with 

Huntington.   

22. At that time, Plaintiff received a MSA that contained Rules and Regulations for 

Business Accounts.  A true and accurate copy of the Agreement Plaintiff received is attached 

hereto as Exhibit A. 

23. At all times relevant to this complaint, Luther McNeil (“Mr. McNeil”), President 

of Majestic, was the only authorized signatory on the account.   

24. The Agreement states that Huntington will not be liable for paying non-authorized 

items on Plaintiff’s account unless Plaintiff purchases Huntington’s fraud-prevention products. 

25. The Agreement does not state what these products are or the cost of these 

products. 

26. The Agreement also fails to disclose to customers that it disclaims the mandates 

of the UCC and applicable state law unless the customers purchase the additional fraud-

prevention services. 

27. In or around November 24, 2014, upon review of its account online, Mr. McNeil 

noticed that checks had been cleared from Plaintiff’s account that were not authorized. 

28. In fact, Mr. McNeil recognized that four checks totaling $3,973.96 were debited 

from Plaintiff’s account on November 24, 2014.  True and accurate copies of these checks are 

attached as Exhibit B. 

29. Each unauthorized check was made out to an unknown person named Latasha 

McCalla in Cleveland, Ohio. 
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30. Mr. McNeil’s signature was also forged and not placed on the checks by him. 

31. Mr. McNeil immediately contacted Huntington on November 24, 2014 on 

Plaintiff’s behalf to inform Huntington of the fraudulent activity on Plaintiff’s account and 

request Plaintiff’s account be reimbursed fully. 

32. Mr. McNeil filled also out all paperwork requested by Huntington regarding his 

fraud complaint, including submitting a police report he filled out with the Powell Police 

Department and a supporting affidavit detailing the fact the signature on the unauthorized checks 

must have been forged. 

33. A few weeks letter, Plaintiff received a letter from Huntington informing it that 

“reasonable care was not used in declining to use [Huntington’s] Check Positive Pay/Reverse 

Positive Pay services, which substantially contributed to the making of the forged item(s).”  A 

true and accurate copy of this letter is attached as Exhibit C. 

34. That is, Huntington told Plaintiff that because Plaintiff did not enroll in or 

purchase Huntington’s “Check Positive Pay/Reverse Positive Pay” product, it would not honor 

its obligations under the UCC to pay a check and debit Plaintiff’s account only as directed by 

Plaintiff.  

35. Huntington’s letter attached as Exhibit C further advised Plaintiff to close its 

account and open a new one.   

36. Confused as to Huntington’s response, Mr. McNeil contacted an attorney to assist 

Plaintiff in its efforts to be refunded for money Huntington paid an apparent thief using clearly 

unauthorized checks. 
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37. Plaintiff’s attorney sent Huntington a letter on December 15, 2014, again 

requesting the money improperly paid out of its account be refunded.  A true and accurate copy 

of this letter is attached as Exhibit D. 

38. Huntington did not respond to the aforementioned letter. 

39. On March 17, 2015 Huntington resent its December 15, 2014 letter and further 

stated that within the Rules and Regulations for Business Accounts (found in the Agreement), 

Huntington has “available certain products designed to discover or prevent unauthorized 

transactions,” which “You agree that if your account is eligible for those products and you 

choose not to avail yourself of them, then we will have no liability for any transaction that occurs 

on your account that those products were designed to discovery or prevent, nor will we have any 

duty to re-credit your account for any such losses.”  Exhibit E and Ex. A. at p. 18. 

40. However, the Agreement does not offer or discuss Check Positive Pay/Reverse 

Positive Pay services.  Ex. A. 

41. As a consequence of the terms of the Agreement Huntington attempts to disclaim 

its liability as mandated by the UCC and applicable state law. 

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS 

42. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all other paragraphs of this Complaint as if 

fully stated herein. 

43. Plaintiff brings this action individually and on behalf of all others similarly 

situated pursuant to Rule 23 of the Federal Rule of Civil Procedure. 

44. Plaintiff seeks to represent a six-state class of the following individuals and  

entities, subject to amendment as appropriate: 

All Huntington customers that:  
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(1) Have a bank account subject to a provision that disclaims liability for transactions 
on the account if the customer does not avail themselves of products purportedly 
designed to discover or prevent unauthorized transactions (the “Provision”);  
(2) Where the customer did not avail themselves of any of the product(s) available 
under the Provision;  

(3) Where Huntington paid the instrument(s) from the customer’s account; and  
(4) Where it was later learned that the instrument(s) were not properly payable.  

 
Collectively, all of these individuals and entities will be referred to as the “Class Members.”  

Plaintiff is a member of the “Class.” 

45. Excluded from the Class are Huntington and any entities in which Huntington has 

a controlling interest, Huntington’s agents and employees, Huntington’s counsel and their 

families, any Judge to whom this action is assigned and any member of such Judge’s staff and 

immediate family, counsel representing any party and their immediate families, and claims for 

personal injury, wrongful death and/or emotional distress. 

46. Plaintiff does not know the exact number of members of the Class, but Plaintiff 

reasonably believes the other Class Members number at least in the hundreds of thousands. 

47. Plaintiff and all members of the Class have been harmed by the acts of 

Huntington. 

48. This Complaint seeks injunctive relief, declaratory relief and money damages. 

49. The joinder of all Class Members is impracticable due to the size of the Class and 

relatively modest value of each individual claim. 

50. Additionally, the disposition of the claims in a class action will provide 

substantial benefit to the parties and the Court in avoiding a multiplicity of identical suits. 

51. Further, the other Class Members can be identified easily through records 

maintained by Huntington and/or its agents. 

52. There are well defined, identical questions of law and fact affecting all parties. 
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53. The questions of law and fact involving the class claims predominate over 

questions which may affect individual Class Members. 

54. Such common questions of law and fact as to the Class include, but are not 

limited to, the following: 

 

a. Whether Huntington tied its bank account services with its fraud-prevention services; 
 

b. Whether it is manifestly unreasonable for Huntington to insist Plaintiff and the Class 
Members enroll in Check Positive Pay or any other fraud detection services before 
Huntington will fulfill its obligations under Article 4 of the UCC; 

 

c. Whether Huntington’s business practice of disclaiming liability under the UCC for 
making final payments on items which are not “properly payable” is manifestly 
unreasonable; 
 

d. Whether Huntington’s business practice of disclaiming liability under the UCC is 
unusual in the banking industry; and 

 
e. Whether Huntington benefits from its business practice of disclaiming liability under 

the UCC.  
 

 
55. Plaintiff asserts claims that are typical of each Class member, as Plaintiff was a 

Huntington bank account customer that Huntington refused to provide the benefits and 

protections of the UCC to because Plaintiff did not purchase Huntington’s additional fraud-

prevention services. 

56. Further, Plaintiff will fairly and adequately represent and protect the interest of 

the Class. 

57. Plaintiff has retained qualified counsel experienced in handling class action 

claims and complex federal litigation. 

58. A class action is the superior method for the fair and efficient adjudication of this 

controversy. 
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59. Class-wide relief is essential to compel Huntington to stop its anticompetitive 

banking practice. 

60. The interest of the Class members in individually pursuing claims against 

Huntington is slight because damages for an individual action are relatively small for a regional 

bank with over $105 billion in assets (the 28th largest bank holding company in the country)4 

and are therefore not likely to deter Huntingtin from engaging in the same behavior in the future. 

61. Management of these claims is likely to present significantly fewer difficulties 

than are presented in many class claims because the violations at issue are subject to generalized 

proof and applicable to the Class as a whole.  

62. Huntington has acted on grounds generally applicable to the Class, thereby 

making final injunctive relief and corresponding declaratory relief with respect the Class as a 

whole appropriate. 

63. Moreover, on information and belief, Plaintiff alleges that the violations 

complained of herein are substantially likely to continue in the future if an injunction is not 

entered and Huntington is not forced to change its unfair and unreasonable business practices.  

CAUSE OF ACTION 

COUNT I 

VIOLATION OF THE ANTI-TYING PROVISION OF THE BANK HOLDING ACT 

AMEMENDMENT OF 1970 12 U.S.C §1972 

 

64. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all other paragraphs of this Complaint as if 

fully stated herein. 

65. Huntington provides bank account services as a part of its course of business. 

                                                           
4 FDIC, Data as of 2Q 2018. 
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66. The UCC mandates that a bank may only pay for items that are properly payable 

from a customer’s bank account. 

67. When a customer signs up for a bank account the bank is required by the UCC 

and state law to act with good faith and ordinary care to protect the account from fraud and the 

payment of unauthorized or forged items. 

68. A Huntington bank account customer does not receive the full protections of a 

bank account, as mandated by the UCC and applicable state law, unless the customer purchases 

the additional fraud-prevention services. 

69. The Anti-Tying provision of the BHCA prohibits anticompetitive practices 

whereby the bank conditions a bank customer to accept or purchase fraud protection products to 

obtain the bank product or services they desire. 

70. By unreasonably shifting its obligation to protect accounts from fraud and forged 

items back onto its customers, Huntington violates its obligations and duties under the UCC and 

the BHCA’s Anti-Tying provision. 

71. Pursuant to the UCC and applicable state law, Huntington is authorized to charge 

only properly payable items against any of the bank accounts that it services. 

72.  Huntington conditions its liability for paying items not properly payable on the 

bank account customer purchasing additional fraud protection services.  

73. Huntington’s bank account agreements state, “You agree that if your account is 

eligible for [products designed to discover or prevent unauthorized transactions] and you choose 

not to avail yourself of them, then we will have no liability for any transaction that occurs on 

your account that those products were designed to discover or prevent, nor will we have any duty 

to re-credit your account for any such losses.” (emphasis added). 
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74. Huntington’s bank account services and its fraud-prevention services are two 

separate and distinct products. 

75. Huntington conditions its duty under the UCC to provide fraud-prevention 

services on a customer’s purchase of Huntington’s fraud-prevention services. 

76. If a customer does not purchase Huntington’s fraud-prevention services 

Huntington will not protect the customer’s checking account or reimburse the customer for 

paying items on the account that the customer did not authorize, despite Huntington’s obligations 

under the UCC. 

77. Huntington’s practice of tying its bank account services to the purchase of its 

fraud-prevention services is unusual in the banking industry. 

78. Huntington attempts to absolve itself from the duty of good faith and ordinary 

care as required under the UCC and applicable state law by conditioning its duties and 

obligations under the UCC to provide bank accounts with fraud protection. 

79. Huntington determines whether to reimburse a customer solely on the question of 

whether the customer has purchased Huntington’s security products.   

80. Under the UCC, a bank cannot disclaim its responsibility to exercise good faith 

and ordinary care. 

81. It is unusual in the banking industry to require customers to absolve a bank of 

statutorily mandated requirements. 

82. Huntington benefits from tying its bank account services to the purchase of its 

fraud-prevention services 

83. Huntington profits from selling its fraud-prevention products and lessens its 

liabilities when a customer does not purchase the fraud-prevention products. 
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84. Huntington’s actions preclude prospective customers from seeking services 

elsewhere because Huntington does not disclose to prospective bank account customers the cost 

of the fraud-prevention products and that the banking accounts will not receive the mandatory 

protections of the UCC unless the customer agrees to purchase Huntington’s additional fraud-

prevention services. 

85. Huntington’s actions had anticompetitive effects, in that customers did not open 

banking accounts elsewhere because Huntington did not disclose to prospective bank account 

customers the cost of the fraud-prevention products and that the bank accounts will not receive 

the mandatory protections of the UCC unless the customer agrees to purchase Huntington’s 

additional fraud-prevention services before fraud occurs on the account. 

86. As a direct and proximate result of Huntington’s anti-competitive practices that 

violate the BHCA’s Anti-Tying provision, Plaintiff sustained actual damages to be determined at 

trial, and which include but are not limited to $3,973.96 and the cost of attorney’s fee to recoup 

those costs and to file this action.  

87. As a result of Huntington’s tying business practices and policies in violation of 

the BHCA’s Anti-Tying provision, Plaintiff and other bank account customers have suffered 

losses in the hundreds to thousands of dollars. 

88. As a direct and proximate result of Huntington’s anti-competitive practices 

thousands of accounts must purchase fraud-prevention services for each’s bank account as a 

condition for Huntington to accept liability for paying items that are not properly payable. This 

resulted in the losses and actual damages to Plaintiff and Huntington’s bank account holders in 

an amount to be determined at trial. 
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89. Plaintiff seeks to recover its maximum damages and the maximum damages 

suffered by all Class Members, including but not limited to three times the amount of sustained 

damages, the cost of the suit, and reasonable attorney’s fees. 

 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests that the Court grant Plaintiff and all Class 

Members the following relief against Defendant: 

A. Injunctive relief prohibiting such further unlawful conduct by Defendant in the future; 

B. A declaratory judgment declaring Defendant violated the law and further declaring 

the rights and relations of the parties; 

C. An award of each Class Member’s maximum damages resulting from Defendant’s 

unlawful conduct, including interest; 

D. An award three times the amount of damages suffered by each Class Member 

resulting from Defendant’s unlawful conduct, including pursuant to 12 U.S.C. § 1975. 

E. An award of treble damages for Defendant’s unlawful conduct; 

F. An award of punitive damages for Defendant’s unlawful conduct; 

G. An award of attorney’s fees and costs to counsel for Plaintiff and the other Class 

Members, including pursuant to 12 U.S.C. § 1975. 

H. An order certifying this action as a class action pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil 

Procedure 23, establishing an appropriate Class and any Subclasses the Court deems 

appropriate, finding the Plaintiff a proper representative of the Class, and appointing 

the lawyers representing Plaintiff as counsel for the Class; and 

I. Such other relief as the Court deems just and proper. 
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            Dated: November 23, 2018 

Respectfully submitted, 
DOUCET & ASSOCIATES, CO., L.P.A. 
 
 
/s/ John A. Zervas_________________ 
John A. Zervas (0043611) 
Troy J. Doucet, Trial Counsel (0086350) 
Andrew J. Gerling (0087605) 
Sean M. Kohl (0086726) 
DOUCET & ASSOCIATES CO., LPA 
700 Stonehenge Parkway, Suite 2B 
Dublin, OH  43017 
PH:  614-944-5219 
FAX:  818-638-5548 
John@Doucet.Law 
Troy@Doucet.Law 
Andrew@Doucet.Law 
Sean@Doucet.Law 
Attorneys for Plaintiff and the Proposed Class 
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JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 

     Plaintiff demands that all claims and issues be tried to a jury. 

/s/ John A. Zervas_________________ 
John A. Zervas (0043611) 
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